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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

KRZYSZTOF DAROWSKI,

Plaintiff, No. 3:15-CV-803 (MPS)
V.

ELZBIETA WOJEWODA, MAREK WOJEWODA,
and KARDYNAL ROOFING & SIDING, LLC,

Defendants.

RULING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiff Krzysztof Darowski filed this dmon against Defendants Elzbieta Wojewoda,
Marek Wojewoda, and Kardynal Roofing & Siding, Ll(Collectively, “Detndants”), alleging
that Defendants failed to paynhiall required wages for his wo performed for their horse-
boarding and roofing businesses. Darowski bricigems for failure to pay overtime wages in
violation of the Fair Labor Stalards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 207, failure to pay overtime and
minimum wages in violation of the ConnectidMinimum Wage Act(*CMWA”), Connecticut
General Statutes (“Conn. Gen. Stat.”) 88 3%k68eq, and failure to pay wages on a weekly basis
as required by Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-71b.

On March 1, 2017, Defendants filed a motion summary judgment on two statute of
limitations issues: first, Defendants contend thatuhdisputed evidence in the record shows that
Plaintiff's claims are barred by the applicable @ of limitations and that he is not entitled to

equitable tolling; second, Defendants contend thahdaextent they violated the law, there is no
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evidence that they did so willfully, and Plaintgfthus not entitled to FLSA’sS one-year extension
of the statute of limitations fawillful violations. (ECF No. 88)see29 U.S.C. § 255(&).

For the reasons set forth below, Defendantstion for summary judgment is DENIED,
as genuine issues of material fact exist as tetkdr Plaintiff is entitledo equitable tolling under
the FLSA and the CMWA. The Court therefore neetl consider whether Defendants have met
their burden on summary judgment with respgedhe issue of willfulness under the FLSA.

l. Factual Background

The following facts, which are taken from the parties’ Local Rule 56(a) Statements and the

exhibits, are undisputed wds otherwise indicated.

A. Defendants’ Businesses

Defendants own Huntingtown Farm, an registered horse-boarding business in
Connecticut. (ECF No. 92-5 at 14-15.) Beforenavg the horse-boarding bmess, Ms. Wojewoda
owned a commercial cleaning business, which sderégistered with the Connecticut Secretary
of State. [d. at 8.) As part of the cleaning busindds, Wojewoda had two employees whom she
paid hourly, by checkld. at 12.) Ms. Wojewoda paid emplognt taxes for the cleaning business.
(Id. at 12.) Marek Wojewoda, Ms. Wojewoda’s hard, assisted her in promoting the cleaning
business and referring clients to her. (ECF No. 92-6 at 6.)

Mr. Wojewoda also owns Kardynal Rood and Siding, and has been running his own
roofing and siding busirss for about 20 yeardd( at 4-5.) Four or fivevorkers typically worked

for Mr. Wojewoda’s roofing and ding business at any one timéd.(at 8.) Mr. Wojewoda

1 While the Defendants “vigoroustieny that Plaintiff worked more than 44 hours in any week of
his employment and assert that they paid himcicordance with federal and state minimum wage
and hour laws” (ECF No. 89 at 1), their motifam summary judgment is based only on their
statute of limitations defense, and does not otiseraddress the merits of Plaintiff's claims.



typically contracted witland paid the workers for each discrete, but at timegaid his workers
by the hour.I@d. at 8-9.) Roofers sometimes perforntadscaping work on Defendants’ property,
including by helping to deepen the Wojewodas’ pdal. &t 14-153 Mr. Wojewoda denies that
the roofers were his employeelsl. @t 16.)

After purchasing Huntingtown Farm, Defemtiahired two men—before hiring Plaintiff—
to work at the horse-boarding business, but both had left by thePtemiff began working
there. (ECF No. 92-5 at 16.)

B. Plaintiff Moves to the United Statesfrom Poland and Begins Working at
Huntingtown Farm in 2010

Plaintiff moved to the United States froml&wd in June 2010. (ECF No. 89-1 at 14.) He
holds a degree in Plastic Arts from a Polish university. (ECF No. 93 | 8.) After graduating from
college, Plaintiff worked as agphic designer for one to two ysan a Polish state-owned fabric
business.Ifl. § 9.) Plaintiff also worked as a seffiployed graphic artist and owned a business
in Poland for three years before moving to the United States. (ECF No. 89-1 at 14; ECF No. 93
17 11-13))

Plaintiff began working at Huntingtown fa on September 6, 2010. (ECF No. 93 1 2.)
Plaintiff and Ms. Wojewoda aged that Plaintiff would be paid $550.00 per week and would be
provided with a furnished apgarent during his employmentd( 1 23.) Plaintiff's tasks included
cleaning the horse stables gratldocks and mowing the lawd.( 24.) Plaintiff agreed with

Ms. Wojewoda that he would work Mondays to $days, from six in the morning to five in the

2 Plaintiff attaches to his opposition papers a ldttan Edras Tasen, an individual who claims to
have worked for Mr. Wojewoda from 2008 to 20{BECF No. 92-7.) The letter describes an
incident in which Plaintiff “tried to help” wh a project in which men were deepening the
Wojewoda’s pool, and describing his impressionshef Wojewodas’ farnand Plaintiff's work
there. The Court does not consider the letteichvis hearsay, in deciding the motion for summary
judgment. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(2).



afternoon, and would perform soradditional work in the stables on Sundays. (ECF No. 89-1 at
43-44.)

Plaintiff often worked in the evenings in atldin to the hours he agrd to work with Ms.
Wojewoda. [d. at 44.) He would sometimes perform famaintenance work date as ten o’clock
at night. (d. at 47.) Plaintiff testified tt he believed Ms. Wojewodegas aware of his additional
evening work because she saw video footagemfimrking recorded by cameras in the stables.
(Id. at 44.)

The number of hours Plaintiff worked variett.(at 57.) Plaintiff testified that he worked
a minimum of ten hours a day on Mondays to &ktys, plus six hours on Sundays, totaling 66
hours per week, not including the days in which he worked additional hours in the evenings. (ECF
No. 89-1 at 57; ECF No. 93 { 47.) Plaintiff neitheported nor kept track of the number of hours
he worked each night, but statédht he “kn[ew] how much [hejorked at night, give or take
average.” (ECF No. 89-1 at 56; ECF No. 93 1 46.)

Plaintiff had a cell phone, computer, and access to the Internet while working for
Defendants. (ECF No. 93  14.) Kept in touch with familynembers and friends via cell phone
and Skype during his employment.(11 20-21.) Plaintiff used a Polish/English translator on his
phone to communicate with horseabders at the farm and hiseind and later girlfriend Karen
Rosa, and relied on family members or friemds spoke both Polish and English to help him
communicate with other American&d ({ 31.) Plaintiff was also frde leave the farm after work
and to have visitorsid. 1 22.) Plaintiff's brotheand friends visited m at Huntingtown Farm,
and one of Plaintiff's friends stayed ameyht with him for two nights in 20111d. 11 15, 17-19,

22))



Plaintiff was not paid between January @il 2011, and had not been paid back wages
for that time period as of June 2011. (ECF No. 931 ECF No. 93 § 4) In June 2011, Plaintiff
called a New York attorney whose ad he had seen in a Polish-language neEa#psio. 92-

1 1 4.) He called the attorney “to inquire whethefight of [his] lack oflegal immigration status,

[he] should demand payment of moneyed to [him] by” Ms. Wojewoda.ld.  5.) In a
conversation that “lasted less than five minutdbg attorney told Plaintiff that he “should
demand the money.Id. 11 6-7.) The attorney did not aggihim about his rights to minimum
wage or overtime payld. T 8.) Plaintiff denies that this Itavas “as to hishours and wages,”
although Ms. Rosa testified that it was her ustdnding that Plaintiff “consulted a Polish-
speaking lawyer about his wages and hours soraetir8012.” (ECF No. 92-4 at 5; ECF No. 93

1 5.) Plaintiff had no other contaetth the attorney and does not remember the attorney’s name.
(ECF No. 92-1 1 9))

At one point during his employent Plaintiff required dentalare. (ECF No. 89-1 at 49.)
Ms. Wojewoda refused to take him to see a dentistat 49-50.) Ms. Wojeada had previously
driven him to the grocery store to buy food, but after Plaintiff asked about getting paid, around
the time his pay was withheld, Ms. Wojewoda tbioh that he would have to walk to the store
from then on.Id. at 51-52.) Plaintiff was able get to the store in der to buy groceries, as Ms.
Rosa and other horse boarders begamdanize to provide him with ridedd( at 52-53, 60.)

Ms. Wojewoda testified that she was notaagvof any state reqements for running a
horse-boarding business or state regulatiogartétng employer recordkeeping. (ECF No. 92-5
at 15-17.) She did not contact fleeleral or state Departments ofdaa to learn whatvas required
of her as an employer and took no other steps to learn the requirehdeatsl8-19.) Defendants

did not have a poster advising Plaintiff of hights under state or federal wage payment laws



because Ms. Wojewoda “didn’t know that by hirimige helper on [her] property, [she] needed to
have such a poster.1d{ at 19.) She further teBed that she “didn’ttalk to him about” the
information that would have been in such a postgrovide the inform#on to Plaintiff by other
means, as Plaintiff “had access to the [I]nternehesoould search for that kind of answer . . . .”
(Id.) Ms. Wojewoda testified that she reported thages she paid Plaintiff to the Connecticut
Department of Revenue Servicesldhe Internal Revenue Servichl.(at 20.)

C. Plaintiff Leaves His Job at Huntingtown Farm in Early 2013

In early 2013, Plaintiff left his job at Huntingtown Fa?my the time he left, Plaintiff had
received all of the wages he was owed urttier terms of his employment agreement with
Defendants. (ECF No. 89-1 at 61; ECF No. 93 1 3.)

On February 18, 2013, Plaintiff sent an ent@iMs. Rosa “describ[ing] Elizabethsid]
behavior in a few sentences” aexplaining “why [he] decided tieave” his job. The email read,
in relevant part:

After several weeks since | had starteeljtih she stopped paying me. It continued

for four months. It still would be like i if | hadn’t startd reminding her about

my money. She used to tell me, dbn’t have any money. I've got financial

problems.[] After some big effort (I even called Polish lawyer) | received my

money.

| already knew she is dishateand | have te careful. Mark daan’t know that

she didn’t pay me, it was my trump card. 84H got the money she stopped giv[ing]

me lifts to the shop — of course without any reason . . . .

When my mother died | told Karen abaut | called her. The next day morning

[sic] they jumped down my throat oveihw | called Karen, why you give me lifts

to the shop etc. . . ..

They forbade me to contact witki¢] you — they said | was t@ic] close with you.
When Karen quit the contract, Elizabdétlamed me and took my phone away (it

3 Plaintiff's last day of work at Huntingtown Farmiisdispute. Plaintiff tstified that his last day
of work was February 18, 2013, while Ms. Wojewasd#eposition testimony suggests that his last
day was January 31, 2013. (ECF No. 93 1 2; ECF No. 93-1 at 5.)



was hers, | was only paying the bills) astne was checking if | have called... Karen.
It was far enough. | demanded my mondye(swed me some) and | quit. . . .

(ECF No. 89-1 at 70; ECF No. 92-4 at 6-7.) Mss&eent a private Facebook message that evening
to a “Sandy Leslie,” including thtext of Plaintiff's above email tMs. Rosa, at Plaintiff's request.
(ECF No. 89-1 at 62, 72-73; ECF No. 93 { 6.) Mss&later clarified in another private message
that the text of the email was directed to LegieCF No. 89-1 at 73.) Imediately after resigning,
Plaintiff moved into Ms. Rosa’s lhee and resided with Ms. Rosa and her family, rent-free, through
the filing of this lawsuit ifMay 2015. (ECF No. 89-1 at 85; ECF No. 93 { 7.) Ms. Rosa and her
family supported him financially durg that time. (ECF No. 89-1 at 85.)

On March 8, 2014, Ms. Rosa reached out tslieevia private Facebook message again to
ask whether Leslie would be fing to help Krzysztof (Chrigpher)” by writing a letter of
reference on his behalf, which heuld “need . . . to secur@bising for himself.” (ECF No. 89-1
at 74.) The next day, over a yesdter Plaintiff left Huntingtow Farm, Ms. Rosa sent a message
to Leslie asking, “Does Elizabetteed help on her farm? Krzyskts asking. Personally, | think
he is crazy.” (ECF No. 89-1 at 68, 75; ECF NoJ9®.) Leslie respondetho she’s all set and |
agree with you . .. .” (ECF No. 89-1 at 75.)

D. Plaintiff Meets with an Immigration Attorney Regarding a T Visa in 2015

In 2015, Ms. Rosa made an appointment fairilff to meet with a representative from
the International Institute of ConnecticutliConn”), a non-profit provider of immigration
services, after bringing Plaintiff a brochuresdebing, in English, the process for obtaining T
Nonimmigrant Status (a “T Visags a victim of labor traffiagkg. (ECF No. 89-1 at 64; ECF No.
93 1 33.) Plaintiff contacted [IConn in MarcB15 for assistance with applying for a T Visa.

(ECF No. 92-1 1 10.) Beginning on April 9, 2015, and continuing over the course of four or five



sessions, Attorney Alicia Kinsman assisted PIHimtithe process of applying for a T Visa. (ECF
No. 92-2 1 3.) Plaintiff was certified for aVlisa on April 11, 2016. (ECF No. 109-1 at 2.)
During their third meeting on May 7, 2015, Attey Kinsman suggested that Plaintiff
consult with a wage and hour attorney and presgitlim with contact information for Attorney
Mariusz Kurzyna, who represents Plaintiff instbase. (ECF No. 92-1 1 11; ECF No. 92-2 ] 4.)
Attorney Kinsman did not advise Plaintiff about his rights under federal or state wage and hour
laws. (ECF No. 92-1 § 12; ECF No. 92-2 { 5.)
E. Plaintiff Retains a Wage-and-Hour Attorney Prior to Filing this Lawsuit
On May 19, 2015, Plaintiff disssed his job duties, hourswbrk, and wages in a phone
call with Attorney Kurzyna. (ECF No. 92-1 { 14Ajtorney Kurzyna informed him that he had
the right to be paid amourly rate of at least the Connedatieninimum wage for all hours worked
and overtime at the raté 1.5 times his hourly wage for all hours over forty worked in each week.
(Id. 1 15.) The next day, Plaifftimet with Attorney Kurzynaand signed a representation
agreement.d.  15.) Plaintiff attests that prior tomtacting Attorney Kurgna, he was not aware
of his rights under the FLSA or the CMWAd( 1 16.)
Plaintiff filed this lawsuit on May 27, 2015. (ECF No. 1.)
Il. Legal Standard
“Summary judgment is appropriate only if tm@vant shows that there is no genuine issue
as to any material fact and the movargnsitled to judgment as a matter of lawdlan v. Cotton
134 S.Ct. 1861, 1866 (2014) (internal quotation maukd citations omitted). The moving party
bears the burden of demonsimg that no genuine issue exists to any material factCelotex
Corp. v. Catrettd77 U.S. 317, 323-25 (1986). If the movpayty carries its burden, “the opposing

party must come forward with specific evidemtmmonstrating the existence of a genuine dispute



of material fact.”Brown v. Eli Lilly & Co.,654 F.3d 347, 358 (2d Cir. 2011). On summary
judgment a court must “construe the facts inlidjet most favorable to the nonmoving party and
must resolve all ambiguities and draw alisenable inferences against the movaddronia v.
Phillip Morris USA, Inc, 715 F.3d 417, 427 (2d Cir. 2013).
1. Discussion

A. Equitable Tolling Under the FLSA and CMWA

Defendants argue that there is no genuirseie@sof material fact that could support
Plaintiff's claim for equitable talhg of the statute of limitationgnd that Plaintiff's claims must
be dismissed as time-barred.

The statute of limitations forsgertion of wage claims under the FLSA is two years unless
the employer acted willfully, in which case thmitations period is three years. 29 U.S.C. §
255(a)* An action for overtime violations under the $A must be filed within two years “after
the cause of action accruedd. A “cause of action accrue[s]” whehe defendant “fails to pay
the required compensation for any workweek atrédgular pay day for the period in which the
workweek ends.” 29 C.F.R. § 790.21(b). Similarly, under the CMWA, an action for minimum
wage or overtime violations must be filed withimo years “after the right of action accrues.”
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-596. A rightaxtion accrues “when an employer refuses to compensate an

employee according to the terms of an espror implied employment contractWarzecha v.

4The CMWA is similar to the FLSA and ordirlgircarries a two-year statute of limitations, though
the CMWA contains no extension for willfuliolations. Conn. Gen. Stat. 8§ 52-596. “The
Connecticut Supreme Court has indicated tteateral precedent can be used to interpret
Connecticut laws that are analogous to provisions contained in the FE®&Adricks v. J.P.
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A677 F. Supp. 2d 544, 560 (D. Conn. 2009) (ciRkugo-Rooter Servs.

Co. v. Dep'’t of Labar219 Conn. 520, 528 n.8 (Conn. 1991)). Therefore, the Court is aided by
federal precedent regarding the kgagion of the FLSA’s two-yedimitations periodn applying

the CMWA'’s limitations period.



Nutmeg Cos., Inc48 F. Supp. 2d 151, 1§B. Conn. 1999) (citindBurns v. Koellmerll Conn.
App. 375, 388 (1987)) (internal citation omitted¥ Plaintiff's employment ended more than two
years before the filing of the Complaint on M2, 2015, the parties agree that absent tolling or
an extension of the statute of limitations, hismagiwould be barred lihe FLSA’'s and CMWA's
respective statutes of limitations.

Under both statutes, “[e]quitablelling allows courts to extend the statute of limitations
beyond the time of expiration as necesdargvoid inequithle circumstancesJohnson v. Nyack
Hosp, 86 F.3d 8, 12 (2d Cir. 1996Asp v. Milardg 573 F. Supp. 2d 677, 698 (D. Conn. 2008)
(equitably tolling the statutes of limitations under the FLSA and the CMWA). The plaintiff has the
burden of showing that equitable tolling is warrangek Pace v. DiGuglielmb44 U.S. 408, 418
(2005). A court has discretion towetably toll a statute of limit@gons, but must consider whether
the plaintiff (1) acted with reasonable diligence during the period he seeks to have tolled, and (2)
proved that circumstances are so exttarary that the doctrine should appBerilli-Edelglass v.

New York City Transit Auth333 F.3d 74, 80-81 (2d Cir. 2002 amendedJuly 29, 2003)
(internal citation omitted).

In Veltri v. Bldg. Serv. 32 B-J Pension Fumide Second Circuit held that equitable tolling
was appropriate in an ERISA action where tlefendant pension fund failed to comply with
federal regulations requirinigto notify the plaintiffof his right to pursueudicial review in federal
court following an adverse decision on hisaistrative appeal. 393 F.3d 318, 323 (2d Cir. 2004).
The Court inVeltri found that, in the ERISA context, the defendant’s “nondisclosure [had to] be
viewed in light of the regulatory notice requirement and of Congress’s policy of protecting the
interests of pension plan partiants by ensuring ‘disclosure aneporting to participants’ and

‘ready access to the Federal courtid”at 324 (quoting the ERISA’s Congressional findings and

10



declaration of policy, 29 U.S.C.101(b)). Thus, the Court held tHéilure to comply with the
regulatory obligation to disclogbe existence of a cause of aatito the plan participant whose
benefits have been denied is tiipe of concealment that entitlpkintiff to equitable tolling of
the statute of limitations.ld. “The relevant question is ntite intention underlying defendants’
conduct, but rather whether a reasonable plaintifiie circumstances would have been aware of
the existence of eause of action.Id. at 323. The Court nonethelesade clear that “a plaintiff
who has actual knowledge of the right to bringidicial action . . . my not rely on equitable
tolling notwithstanding inadequat®tice from [the defendant]ld. at 326. The Second Circuit
has since reaffirmedeltri in the context of the Federal Tort Claims Aatther “clarify[ing] that
fraudulent concealment is nosesitial to equitable tollingValdez ex rel. Donely v. United States
518 F.3d 173, 182 (2d Cir. 2008) (eqgbitatolling the statute ofimitations in a FTCA action
where the defendant failed to disclose that physsc@oviding services iprivate hospitals were
federal employees).

Veltri suggests that Defendants’ undisputed faibarcomply with teir obligations under
both the FLSA and the CMWA to post noticesttie workplace explaining Plaintiff's rights to
minimum wage and overtime compensation is draexdinary circumstance warranting equitable
tolling so long as Plaintiff otherwidacked actual knowledge of those rightas in the ERISA
context, the statutory and regtory requirements that employers post notices informing workers

of their rights under the FLSAnd CMWA suggest “that seasonable [employee] would not

5> A federal regulation promulgated by the U.SpBement of Labor under the FLSA requires that
“[e]very employer . . . shall posind keep posted a notice explampithe Act . . . in conspicuous
places in every establishment where such emplaeesmployed so as to permit them to observe
readily a copy.” 29 C.F.R. § 516.4. The CMWA regsitleat “[e]ach employer . . . keep a copy of
... the regulations issued by the Labor Comrorssi posted at the placea@nployment where it
can be read easily by the employees.” Conn. Gen. Stat. § 31-66.

11



otherwise be aware of the existemaf a cause of action . . . Veltri, 393 F.3d at 324see also
Cruz v. Maypa773 F.3d 138, 147 (4th Cir. 2014) (equitataiing the statute of limitations under
the FLSA where the employer failed to post the negiinotice of workers’ rights and the claimant
did not retain an attorney or obtain actual knowledge of her rights, observing that “absent a tolling
rule, employers would have no imteve to post notice since thepuld hide the fact of their
violations from employees until any relevant claims expired”).

Indeed, as discussed in @eurt’s ruling on Ms. Wojewodasiotion to dismiss (ECF No.
41), some district courts in this Circuit hawihd that a plaintiff in a FLSA action was entitled to
equitable tolling of the limitations period whettee defendant failed to post adequate notice of
workers’ wage rights and the plaintiff did rlearn of those rights through other me&ee, e.g.
Rescia v. Shamaslo. 3:10-CV-01841-GWC, 2015 W11237633, at *2-3 (D. Conn. Dec. 22,
2015) (finding plaintiff was entitled to equit&btolling where defendarfailed to post FLSA
notice and the record was silent as to whethenfpiiahad knowledge of Isiright to overtime pay);
Upadhyay v. Sethi848 F. Supp. 2d 439, 445 (S.D.N.YO12) (“[F]Jailure [to post wage and
overtime notices] is not by itself sufficient to wartaquitable tolling; @intiff must also show
that she had not received notice of mghts through any other avenue.Asp v. Milardo
Photography, InG.573 F. Supp. 2d 677, 698 (D. Conn. 2008) Jtigr'trend regarding the failure
to post FLSA notices . . . permits equitable tolkvigere the plaintiff did not consult with counsel

during his employment and the employer’s faglto post notice isot in dispute.”f.

6 Some district courts in the Second Circuit hiagtel that failure to posequired notices could be
“sufficient to warrant tolling, espgally when the employees have difficulty speaking English.”
Dehua Lin v. BrenngrNo. 3:07-CV-1658 (CFD), 2011 WB570779, at *4 n.3 (D. Conn. Nov.
15, 2011);see also Yu G. Ke v. Saigon Grill, In895 F. Supp. 2d 240, 248, 259-60 (S.D.N.Y.
2008) (equitably tolling the statute of limitatiowsere defendants failed to post required notices
“and made no effort to provide yother form of notice to thenpn-English-speakg] plaintiffs
about their rights”). Others hawaso required, however, thatiltae to post FLSA notices be

12



Defendants argue that, to the extent anyaexdinary circumstances warrant equitable
tolling, those circumstances ended when Pldingisigned in early 2013endering Plaintiff's
claims nonetheless untimely. In support of finigposition, Defendants cite the Second Circuit’s
holding that the “requirements of tolling must $sisfied throughout the ped to be tolled” in
Harper v. Ercole 648 F.3d 132, 136 (2d Cir. 2011), a casecerning equitakl tolling under the
Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act. Because the extraordinary circumstance here is the
Defendants’ failure to comply with an obligati to inform Plaintiff ofrights he would not
ordinarily otherwise baware of, however, there is no reasoat tRlaintiff’'s termination of his
employment should mark an automatic endhi® tolling period. The harm from a defendant’'s
violation of an obligatio to notify a claimant of his rightdoes not automatically disappear once
the claimant and the defendanttpaays, absent some evidencattthe claimant learned of his
rights after parting waywith the defendant. This is consistent withltri, where the plaintiff filed
suit ten years after he stopped working for the defen&a®. Veltri 393 F.3d at 321-22. The
Second Circuit’s opinion iNeltri does not suggest that the plaintiff's change in employment status
altered the equitable tolling analysis, which,raéed, was based on the defendant’s failure to
comply with a notice obligatioand the plaintiff's lack of actual knowledge of his righ&ee id.
at 323-34.

Thus, whether Plaintiff is entitled to equitakblling here hinges on whether he had actual

knowledge of his rights during thienitations period. Plaintiff assexthat he became aware of his

coupled with “some sort of deception” in order to warrant equitable toliag.Mark v. Gawker
Media LLG No. 13-CV-4347 (AJN), 2016 WL 1271064, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 29, 2016)
(discussing split within the Circuitsunawan v. Sake Sushi Re€®¥97 F. Supp. 2d 76, 82
(E.D.N.Y. 2012) (concluding plaiiff was not entitled to eqtable tolling as she did not
“demonstrate that [defendant], in addition to faglito post the notice of rights, also engaged in
‘some sort of deception’ that kept heorin understanding and asserting her rights”).

13



rights under federal and statemmhum wage and overtime lavisr the first time in May 2015,
when he spoke with Attorney Kurzyna, one wéeltore filing the Complaint. (ECF No. 92-1 11
15-16.) At best for Defendants, questions of éags$t as to whether Plaintiff had actual knowledge
of his rights before his initiatonversation with Attorney Kurzyndlaintiff first contacted an
attorney in New York, whose ad he sawairPolish-language newspaper, in June 2011, after
Defendants failed to pay him farork he had performed between January and April 2011. (ECF
No. 92-1 1 3-5.) But he assetlsmt his conversation with thdtarney “lasted Iss than five
minutes” and concerned only whether it woulddbgse to demand the money he was owed under
his contract with Defendants,vgin his lack of legal immigrain status. (ECF No. 92-1 11 6-7.)
While this interaction suggests that Plaintiff knlkeaw to contact an attorney and was aware that
he had a right to be paid in accordance with his agreement, resolving all ambiguities in Plaintiff's
favor, | find that factual questions remain asvteether Plaintiff was aware—or even should have
been aware—at that time of his rights to mmaom wage, overtime pay, atwbe paid on a regular
basis in particular.

Moreover, the circumstances surrounding Ritfii;employment cast doubt on whether he

reasonably should have known of his rights urtlerFLSA and the CMWA. Plaintiff was an

" Defendants rely heavily oRatraker v. Council of Envt. of New York Gityo. 02 Civ. 7382
(LAK), 2003 WL 22703522 (S.D.N.Y. dv. 17, 2003), in which the Distt Court held that the
plaintiffs FLSA claim was time-barred, as the dedants’ failure to post the required notice,
though “in other circumstances, migtgsult in equitable tolling,did not do so in the factual
circumstances of that cadd. at *2. InPatraker, the Court concluded thatjuitable tolling was
not warranted because the plaintiff, who had worlkediefendant for fifteen years, retained an
attorney for the purpose obtaining advice as tois employment contradd. But Patrakerdoes
not establish a rule that any corseation with an attory is dispositive othe issue of equitable
tolling, as Defendants claim. Andeliacts in the record regardifgaintiff's consultation with an
attorney in 2011 are too murky tearrant a finding that equitabkolling should not apply as a
matter of law. Further, the additional fadtsat support equitable tolling here—Plaintiff's
undocumented status, limited English skills, arndtree isolation—do not @pear to have been
present irPatraker.

14



undocumented immigrant at the time of his employraedthad come to the United States in June
2010, two months before he began working fofeddants. (ECF No. 89-1 at 14; ECF No. 92-1

5; ECF No. 93 1 2.) Plaintiff hdomited proficiency in English antéstified at his deposition with

the aid of an interpreter. He used Polish/English translation services when communicating with
horse boarders at the farm and his friend Ms. Rarsa relied on family members or friends who
spoke Polish and English to communicate with others. (ECF No. 93  31.) As the only employee
at Huntingtown Farm during his employment—waiso lived at his place of work—Plaintiff was
relatively isolated. On the other hand, Plaintifpaars to have emailed with friends in English,
though it is not clear whieér he had assistancewvimiting those emails SeeECF No. 89-1 at 70.)

He was allowed to hawasitors and had a cell phone, laptapd access to the Internet. (ECF No.

93 1 14.) And Plaintiff is a relately sophisticated individual with a college degree and who
previously owned his own business in Polahdl. { 8-9, 11-13.)

Additional questions of fact est as to whether Plaintiff leaed of his rights following his
resignation in early 2013. Ms. Rosapparent assistance of Pl#insuggests that Plaintiff may
have become aware of his rights before May 2@ laintiff was almostertainly less isolated
when he moved into her home. Ms. Rosa financillyported Plaintiff, worked to secure a letter
of reference for housing on his behalf, and madengements for him to meet with immigration
counsel, suggesting that she wassely involved in Plaintiff’'s pemnal affairs and may have been
active in helping Plaintiff understand his legal tighenerally. Questions also remain as to why
Plaintiff thought he could be eligible for a T Visaaasictim of labor trafftking, if he did not also
understand his rights to minimum wage, overtipag, and payment on a regular basis to have
been violated. Whether Plaintiff learned of hghts through his meetings regarding the T Visa

also depends on the testimony dfdkney Kinsman, who states ttsite did not advise him of his
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rights under federal and state wage laws but tatmmmended that Plaintiff consult with a wage-
and-hour attorney. (ECF No. 92-2 {{ 4-5.)

In light of the facts discusseth@ve, Plaintiff's asseidn that he firstéarned of his rights
in May 2015, and Defendants’ faiito put forth evidence demonsingtthat Plaintiff did in fact
learn of his rights at an earlier time, resolving ¢uestion of whether equitable tolling is warranted
involves weighing the credibility okitnesses and is thereforappropriate for determination on
summary judgmentSee Upadhyay v. Setl@48 F. Supp. 2d 439, 446 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) (denying
summary judgment on issue of equitable tolling wehgesolving differing versions of the events
into a coherent whole involves assessments of the parties’ creddmlitychoosing between
conflicting narratives”). | deny summary judgment witispect to the issue efjuitable tolling of
the FLSA and CMWA statutes of limitations.

B. Willfulness

Defendants also argue that thes no genuine issue of matdrfact that could support
Plaintiff's claim that Defendants violated FLSA willfy, and therefore that &htiff is not entitled
to a one-year extsion of the staite of limitations.

As discussed above, the FLSA provides for a three-year statute of limitations for “‘a cause
of action arising out of a willful violation."Herman v. RSR Sec. Servs. Lid2 F.3d 132, 141

(2d Cir. 1999) (quoting 29 U.S.C. § 255(ayAn employer willfully violates the FLSA when it
either knew or showed reckless disregard ferrtfatter of whether itsonduct was prohibited by

the [statute].”Young v. Cooper Cameron Corfp86 F.3d 201, 207 (2d Cir. 2009) (quoting
McLaughlin v. Richland Shoe C@86 U.S. 128, 133 (1988)). “#ih employer acts unreasonably,

but not recklessly, in determining its legal obligat its action should not bmonsidered willful.”

Parada v. Banco Indus. De Venezuela, C783 F.3d 62, 71 (2d Cie014) (internal quotation
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marks and alterations omitted). The plaintiféltlae burden of proving willfulness under the FLSA.
See Hermanl72 F.3d at 141.

Because a reasonable jury could conclude tlzantHf is entitled toequitable tolling, and
therefore that none of his claims is time-barred alvtre two-year statutef limitations applies,
| need not decide whether Defendants havether burden on summary judgment with respect
to willfulness. The parties are not precluded fraising the issue of willfulness at trial.

V. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, Defenddntgion for Summary Judgment is DENIED.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

I
Michael P. Shea, U.S.D.J.

Dated: Hartford, Connecticut
December 19, 2017
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